Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Neuropharmacology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neuropharm

Invited review

Psychedelics: Where we are now, why we got here, what we must do

Sean J. Belouin ^{a, *}, Jack E. Henningfield ^{b, c}

- ^a Captain (CAPT), United States Public Health Service (USPHS), 11307 Church Bend Court, Germantown, MD 20876, United States
- b Professor, Behavioral Biology, Adjunct, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, United States
- c Vice President, Research, Health Policy and Abuse Liability, Pinney Associates, 4800 Montgomery Lane, Suite 400, Bethesda, MD 20814, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 20 October 2017 Received in revised form 9 February 2018 Accepted 20 February 2018 Available online 21 February 2018

Keywords:
Abuse potential
Addiction
Controlled substances act
LSD
Mental health disorders
Psychedelic drug research

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this commentary is to provide an introduction to this special issue of Neuropharmacology with a historical perspective of psychedelic drug research, their use in psychiatric disorders, researchrestricting regulatory controls, and their recent emergence as potential breakthrough therapies for several brain-related disorders. It begins with the discovery of lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) and its promising development as a treatment for several types of mental illnesses during the 1940s. This was followed by its abuse and stigmatization in the 1960s that ultimately led to the placement of LSD and other psychedelic drugs into the most restrictively regulated drug schedule of the United States Controlled Substances Act (Schedule I) in 1970 and its international counterparts. These regulatory controls severely constrained development of psychedelic substances and their potential for clinical research in psychiatric disorders. Despite the limitations, there was continued research into brain mechanisms of action for psychedelic drugs with potential clinical applications which began during the 1990s and early 2000s. Finding pathways to accelerate clinical research in psychedelic drug development is supported by the growing body of research findings that are documented throughout this special issue of Neuropharmacology. Accumulated research to date suggests psychedelic drug assisted psychotherapy may emerge as a potential breakthrough treatment for several types of mental illnesses including depression, anxiety, posttraumatic stress disorder, and addiction that are refractory to current evidenced based therapies. This research equally shows promise in advancing the understanding of the brain, brain related functioning, and the consequential effects of untreated brain related diseases that have been implicated in causing and/or exacerbating numerous physical disease state conditions. The authors conclude that more must be done to effectively address mental illnesses and brain related diseases which have become so pervasive, destructive, and whose treatments are becoming increasingly resistant to current evidenced based therapies.

This article is part of the Special Issue entitled 'Psychedelics: New Doors, Altered Perceptions'. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	8
	1.1. The modern rise of psychedelic drug research and clinical application	8
	1.2. The US Controlled Substances Act and the fall of psychedelic drug research	9
	1.3. Twenty-first century psychedelic drug research and development: a new era	. 10
2.	Public health need	. 11
3.	Summary of major mental health challenges facing the United States	. 12
	3.1. Cumulative behavioral healthcare and societal costs	. 13
	3.2. Stigmatizing scientific medical problem solving	. 13
4.	ng to address a critical national healthcare need	
5.	Operationalizing forward	
	5.1. Research in new and emerging areas can be appropriately guided with the convening of a research summit	

^{*} Corresponding author.

	5.2. Funding research	15
6.	Summary	. 15
	Disclaimer	. 16
	Conflicts of interest	. 16
	Acknowledgments of funding and grants	16
	References	. 16

1. Introduction

The history of psychedelic substance use, modern research efforts, and their potential clinical applications addressing current treatment resistant mental health disorders evolved through an intriguing and complexly interwoven story linking ancient cultures, modern discovery, pop cultural movements, national and international politics, and well-intentioned laws with unintended consequences. In the context of this history, this commentary discusses the 21st century resurgence of psychedelic drug assisted psychotherapeutic research, the challenges imposed by the United States Controlled Substance Act (US CSA), and the potential for development of medicinal products for the treatment of persisting mental health disorders.

The unrelenting persistence of behavioral disorders, for which those who are afflicted and refractory to current evidenced based therapies, reveal a powerful incentivizing force for advancing new medicinally assisted psychotherapeutic treatments. On the other hand, we enter the 21st century humbled by the daunting challenge of developing medicines for central nervous system (CNS) disorders in response to the failure of so many seemingly promising medicines that emerged from years of clinical trials, billions of US dollars invested, with benefit to risk profiles which at the time, were acceptable to regulatory agencies in the US and globally (Hyman, 2012; Pangalos et al., 2007; Pankevich et al., 2014). With these considerations in mind, the present commentary is not postured as advocacy for a simple or certain solution to the challenges posed by mental health disorders or "brain diseases." Nonetheless, it suggests that pressing public health challenges involving behavioral disorders may be addressed in part by recent advances in neuropharmacology, on the effects, mechanisms of action, and potential clinical applications of psychedelic drugs discussed in this special issue of Neuropharmacology. Together, these advances support our conclusion that increased scientific investigation of psychedelic substances for potential clinical application merits serious consideration among the many other efforts that are vigorously being pursued to address mental health illnesses that continue to be so pervasive in the United States and globally.

The purpose of this commentary is to provide a brief historical context for psychedelic drug research, its modern rise, fall, reemergence, and the importance of finding pathways through the complex legal, policy, and social barriers, to effectively research the battery of potential medicinal applications that may lead to US and international regulatory approval where they may find their place in service to humanity. This story is multifaceted and a thorough elucidation goes far beyond the scope of any commentary, however, the authors have endeavored to provide key references for readers interested in pursuing these diverse issues for further inquiry. We recognized the opinions of researchers, clinicians, policy makers, regulatory agencies, research funders, those views that span culturally across society, and ultimately the legislative halls that govern this nation and those of others. All vary widely, and all merit consideration. The following is our perspective.

1.1. The modern rise of psychedelic drug research and clinical application

Plants and plant-derived substances known to produce psychedelic effects have been used for millennia for their apparent healing powers, in rituals, and for pleasure (Hofmann, 1980; Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2007; Nichols, 2004; Strassman, 1995). These have included certain mushrooms, herbs such as nutmeg, anticholinergic plant derivatives, cannabis, and numerous other substances used in medicine, as well as prototypic substances of abuse and dependence such as alcohol, opioids, stimulants and tobacco. Although the apparent reasons for early use must be surmised in the context of archeological investigations and historical records, the reasons and occasions for use included ceremonial, medicinal, and what today might be termed in relation to modern western culture, recreational use. This history is intriguing and has been recounted elsewhere (Bastiaans, 1983; Hofmann, 1980; Merlin, 2003; Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2007; Siegel, 1989; University of Maryland, 2013a, b).

The modern era of research and potential clinical development of such substances for treating mental and behavioral disorders was launched by the discovery of a new chemical entity, lysergic acid diethyl amide (LSD) as discussed in the preface and elsewhere in this special issue (Hofmann, 1980; University of Maryland, 2013a). Although discovered in 1938, its potentially powerful effects to alter mood and cognition were not realized until the self-experiment by its inventor, Albert Hofmann, a Sandoz pharmaceutical company chemist, in 1943 on a day that later came to be renowned internationally as Bicycle Day (Tables 1 and 2). Following several years of active research, the first European clinical study was published in 1947; and in 1949, two American psychiatrists, Max Rinkel and Nick Bercel personally brought Sandoz's LSD into the US to begin testing it. Importantly, it was the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (Federal FD&C Act) of 1938 that permitted Sandoz to distribute LSD samples, under the brand name Delysid for investigational research. These samples were given to experts who were believed to have the necessary training and experience to administer such drugs to patients, thereby further evaluating their potential clinical benefits and safety risks (Bonson, 2017). It was heralded in the medical literature and popular press with great promise for the treatment of a variety of serious mental health disorders including anxiety, depression, schizophrenia, war time stress reactions, alcoholism and other substance use disorders (Hofmann, 1980). Its clinically documented favorable safety profile, potency, and its ability to produce powerful and occasionally enduring beneficial psychological effects, led many prominent leaders in the behavioral science field along with the pharmaceutical industry to view LSD, and possibly related chemical entities, as potential breakthroughs in many areas of mental illness, including various forms of drug addiction.

The promise of LSD, psilocybin, mescaline and other psychedelic substances as tools in psychiatric investigation and their potential for medicinal application was pursued vigorously by many leading researchers in psychiatry and the emerging fields neuropharmacology and neuropsychopharmacology (Abramson et al., 1955; Freedman, 1968, 1986, 1992; Grinspoon and Bakalar, 1979; Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2007; Nichols, 2004; Nutt et al., 2013; Siegel and West, 1975). This area of pharmaceutical research exploration coincided simultaneously with the rapid advancement of research on medicines to treat anxiety, depression and psychosis during the 1950s, which were also essential in the development of the modern fields of psychopharmacology and neuropharmacology (Ban, 2006, 2007; Lopez-Munoz et al., 2011; Stolerman, 2010). The apparent benefits of medicines for such diverse and formerly all too often intractable disorders certainly fueled the hope for LSD and possibly other psychedelics, which were initially referred to the more general term of psychotomimetics, for their ability to produce transient psychotic like states, and equally psychotherapeutic for their ability to relieve such states. Research funding came by way of pharmaceutical companies, institutions such as the US National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), and importantly, though controversially, from military and intelligence agencies (Kamienski, 2016; Lee and Shlain, 1992; Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2007) which appeared to have interests not only in clinical application but possibly as tools for espionage and warfare.

By the early 1960s, research on psychotherapeutic agents including psychedelics contributed to the emergence of new research societies such as the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, the American Psychological Association's Psychopharmacology and Substance Abuse Division 28, the Behavioral Pharmacology Society, and many others. Even though there was this extensive growing body of clinical research on hallucinogens, especially with LSD, which at the time was being distributed in the US for investigational purposes, there was still no federal legal requirement in the Federal FD&C Act of 1938 requiring pharmaceutical manufacturers to demonstrate proof of clinical efficacy through adequate and well controlled clinical trials. It was on October 10th, 1962, in response to the thalidomide tragedy where children were born with serious birth defects from mothers consuming the drug thalidomide for morning sickness, that the Kefauver-Harris Drug Amendments to the Federal FD&C Act, known officially as the "Drug Amendments of 1962" was signed into public law (Chhabra et al., 2005; Meadows, 2006). This crucial legislation significantly strengthened the FDA's regulatory controls on the experimentation of new chemical entities in humans.

For any new drug substance, pharmaceutical companies were now required to submit as part of their New Drug Application (NDA) adequate and well-controlled studies, demonstrating their drug was both safe and effective for the clinical indication(s) the company was seeking to market. Additionally, there would be the requirement for informed consent of patients before their participation in any clinical trials; adverse drug reaction reports were now going to be required by the FDA; good manufacturing practices would be formalized; and lastly, prescription drug advertising would be transferred from the Federal Trade Commission to the FDA. As a crucial component of the Kefauver-Harris Drug Amendments, the Drug Efficacy Study Implementation (DESI) was initiated, and in 1966, the FDA contracted with the National Academy of Sciences National Research Council to undertake an evaluation of all drugs approved between 1938 and 1962 for clinical efficacy. It would take almost 20 years, 1984, to evaluate and issue final regulatory actions on 3443 marketed drug products, totaling more than 16,000 therapeutic efficacy claims. Of those 3443 drug products, 2225 were found to be effective, 1051 were found ineffective, and 167 were still pending more research. The 1051 ineffective drug

products were designated DESI drugs, and with the passage of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981, reimbursement for DESI drugs was prohibited by Medicaid programs as well as under Medicare Part B (Chhabra et al., 2005; Meadows, 2006; Navarro, 2009).

1.2. The US Controlled Substances Act and the fall of psychedelic drug research

With the implementation of these new regulatory controls following the passage of the Kefauver-Harris Drug Amendments of 1962, Sandoz was equally facing the loss of patent protection for Delysid in 1963. Thus, there was no financial incentive to invest any further in the newly required safety and clinical efficacy studies now needed for regulatory approval as stipulated in the Kefauver-Harris Drug Amendments to the Federal FD&C Act, To complicate matters even more, patterns of abuse were emerging with LSD which included illicit manufacture and distribution (Drug Enforcement Administration, 1995; Hofmann, 1980). LSD was entering popular culture as a "mind-altering" and "mind-enhancing" drug associated with various societal subcultures with a multiplicity of social and political movements including the rise of the "hippie" culture and psychedelia. These social developments contributed to an emerging unfavorable reputation among numerous political and medical leaders (Drug Enforcement Administration, 1995; Hofmann, 1980), and by 1966, Sandoz sought to distance themselves from any research in the US by transferring their remaining supplies of Delysid to NIMH (Bonson, 2017). A summary document by the US Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) reported that from about 1950 to 1965 "research on LSD and other hallucinogens generated over 1000 scientific papers, several dozen books, and 6 international conferences, and LSD was prescribed as treatment to over 40,000 patients" (Drug Enforcement Administration, 1995). There is little question that the celebrity status garnered by Professor Timothy Leary during this era contributed to both the popular cultural rise of LSD and in turn to its stigmatization and adverse political repercussions by the latter half of the 1960s (Abrahart, 1998; Doblin, 2001; Dyck, 2006; Mansnerus, 1996; The Lancet, 2006).

Along with the emerging so-called "counterculture movement" that embraced LSD and related substances was the increasing adoption of the term "psychedelic" as the general umbrella term for LSD, psilocybin, and numerous other substances (Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2007). The encouragement in the use of psychedelics to "Turn on, tune in, and drop out" by Professor Leary (Mansnerus, 1996) may have fueled the emerging divide between political leaders, and those of many young people whose views were in opposition to the Vietnam War, and or active in issues ranging from racial equality, women's rights, to environmental advocacy. Regardless of truth or fault, this complex and rapidly evolving period in the social political landscape contributed to political backlash. Certain aspects of the design and content of the 1970 US Controlled Substances Act (CSA) (Table 3) codified harsh penalties for manufacture, possession, and use of many psychedelics, which hindered their research and medicinal development (Abrahart, 1998; Doblin, 2001; Dyck, 2006; Mansnerus, 1996; Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2007; The Lancet, 2006).

This stark characterization of LSD and related psychedelic substances firmly took root and contributed to an era of misinformation, politicization, and irrational fear by many in society, subsequently causing the political leadership on both sides of the aisle to collectively take action, which resulted in the near banning of clinical research with these substances. Time magazine's description of the banning of LSD and other psychedelic substances by several states in 1966 summarized how these substances

Table 1

Bicycle Day: Albert Hofmann's personal discovery of the diverse psychopharmacological effects of LSD.

Bicycle Day commemorates the day, April 19, 1943, when chemist Albert Hofmann intentionally ingested 250 µg of LSD in his laboratory at the Sandoz pharmaceutical company in Basel, Switzerland. The commemoration of Bicycle Day originated in DeKalb, Illinois in 1985, when Thomas B. Roberts, then a Professor at Northern Illinois University, founded the first Bicycle Day as a personal celebration at his home. Several years later, he distributed announcements to publicize the idea of an annual celebration commemorating Hofmann's intentional exposure with LSD.

Table 2

The discovery and seminal LSD experiment by Albert Hofmann.

Albert Hofmann discovered LSD in 1938, while researching various substances derived from a fungus ergot which was known to produce hallucinations but also considered to have potential clinical applications. He synthesized the chemical and it was tested in routine animal studies that apparently did not suggest at the time a profile for potential medicinal application (Hofmann, 1980). He set aside this substance and did not return to it until 1943 when he accidently ingested an apparently trace amount of the substance. It led to some intriguing psychological effects that reminded him of some childhood experiences. He decided to investigate further in the then not uncommon practice of self-experimentation to document the nature and time-course of the effects. He recounted the experience through his laboratory notes in his 1980 book, "LSD — My Problem Child". On Friday, April 19th, at 4pm he intentionally ingested 250 µg of LSD. By 5pm he began to experience symptoms including dizziness, anxiety, paralysis, visual distortions and a deep desire to laugh. This led to more intense symptoms that were increasingly disturbing and disrupting to his thinking and he asked his assistant to accompany him home where they rode bicycles because of the wartime restrictions on automobile use.

Upon arrival at his home, he asked his assistant to summon his family doctor and to request milk from a neighbor for consumption as a potential antidote. From about 6 to 8:00 p.m. the effects were the most intense and he felt terrified, fearful for his life, and delusional. When his doctor arrived, he was beginning to feel better with the emergence of somewhat more pleasant feelings with kaleidoscopic colors and images that were more positive than negative. His doctor determined that his pulse, blood pressure, and breathing were normal but that his pupils were extremely dilated. Upon waking the next morning, he felt a sense of well-being, pleasure with life, and deeper appreciation for the beauty of the world about him. Future experiences were considered by Hofmann as enhancing to his life and thinking (Hofmann, 1980; University of Maryland, 2013a).

became widely perceived: "Within hours of each other last week, the Governors of California and Nevada signed bills imposing fines of as much as \$1000 and sentences of up to one year behind bars for possession of the hallucinogenic drug LSD. This week a similar measure is expected to become law in New Jersey. In the weird light of LSD's often nightmarish effects, it might seem that such a crackdown would be widely applauded. On the contrary, U.S. legislators and drug experts are actually engaged in a strenuous debate over the degree and kind of controls that should be imposed on LSD."

The CSA emerged along with other international drug control treaties that included, the international "Single Drug Convention" of 1961, the "Psychotropic Convention" of 1971, and other efforts from nations to harmonize their drug regulatory frameworks (International Narcotics Control Board, 1994; National Academies of Sciences, 2017; Spillane and McAllister, 2003). These national and international drug control structures were intended to protect the broader public health, and although there have been noted benefits, there have also been inadvertent consequences and deficiencies that in turn led to new treaties internationally, with new laws and legal interpretations at the national and international level (Sinha, 2001; Spillane and McAllister, 2003; Spillane, 2004; Transnational Institute, 2006). Without challenging the appropriate need and application of the Schedule I designation for certain substances (Table 4), it must also be acknowledged that historical cultural and religious practices going back several centuries were also adversely impacted (Table 5).

Regardless of the general public health intent and benefits, the CSA, as was intended, severely restricted research on substances placed in Schedule I. Schedule I substances are defined in the CSA by three factors: (A) The drug or other substance has a high potential for abuse; (B) The drug or other substance has no currently accepted medical use in treatment in the United States; (C) There is a lack of accepted safety for use of the drug or other substance under medical supervision. The law does not outright ban research on Schedule I substances but it includes restrictions and significant barriers and requirements that discourage scientists and clinicians from attempting to conduct research on Schedule I substances or even applying for funding for such research (Howell, 2017; Woodworth, 2011). There is growing recognition in the US and other countries for the need to reduce barriers in researching drugs placed in Schedule I in the US and its equivalent class in

other nations. An example of a regulatory hurdle imposed by the CSA and how it was implemented was the exceptional burden that a potential researcher would need to independently submit study proposals to both the FDA and a US Public Health Service (PHS) board, adding potentially months of time and effort to be able to conduct research on marijuana (Ingraham, 2015). In 2015, the US Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) changed its formal guidance on procedures for providing marijuana for research by eliminating the need for the US PHS review, thus eliminating one of many such obstacles (Ingraham, 2016; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2015). The 2015 DHHS action only addressed marijuana and left other potentially modifiable barriers in place but it is an example of progress in this area. To identify additional approaches to support and expedite research on Schedule I substances, a special symposium was convened at the annual meeting of the College on Problems of Drug Dependence in June, 2017, in which representatives from leading research organizations, along with the DEA, FDA, and NIDA, discussed the challenges and adverse consequences of the barriers to Schedule I drug research and what might be done to facilitate such research (Howell, 2017).

1.3. Twenty-first century psychedelic drug research and development: a new era

Today, there appears to be rapidly growing awareness, anticipation, and hope for the potential of several psychedelic drugs to become medically approved for various psychiatric disorders as discussed further in this article and elsewhere in this special issue (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016; Chabrol, 2013; Gasser et al., 2014; Griffiths et al., 2016; Grob et al., 2011; Hartogsohn, 2017; Krebs and Johansen, 2012; Langlitz, 2012; Mithoefer et al., 2011; Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2017c; Pisano et al., 2017; Oehen et al., 2013; Sewell et al., 2006). Psychedelic medication development efforts began to accelerate following the 1990s, when new generations of behavioral health researchers began an in-depth reexamination and rediscovery of potential uses these substances might hold by applying state of the art clinical research development approaches, methods, and procedures. For many in this field of investigation, the new marshaling of interest is essential to better understand the brain and mechanisms of drug

Table 3The US Controlled Substances Act and psychedelic drug regulation in the United States

The Controlled Substances Act (CSA) was established during the administration of President Richard Nixon in 1970, during the same time that the International Psychotropic Convention of the United Nations of 1971 was being developed. Many of the provisions of the CSA and the Psychotropic Convention were thus in harmony (see more specifics concerning the Psychotropic Convention in United Nations, 1971) (United Nations, 1971). In brief, the CSA is a federal law that regulates the manufacture and distribution of substances and medicines, designated as "controlled substances", on the assumption that they require special controls due to their potential known or predicted (in the case of new substances and medicines) risks of abuse and addiction.

The nature and extent of the controls varies widely as a function of the presumed nature and severity of the risks and whether the substance is the active ingredient in a product approved for medicinal use by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Substances not approved for medicinal use are placed (also referred to as being "listed" or "scheduled") in Schedule I ("CI"), regardless of the extent and nature of their abuse-related risks. Substances approved as prescription medicines are placed in Schedule II through V ("CII – CV") (See Table 4).

For approved prescription medicines, the schedule placement is intended to be commensurate with the known or predicted risks of the substance as determined by an analysis of 8 factors of the CSA (See Table 6). This provides for a comprehensive evaluation of the pharmacology, abuse potential, history of the substance and related substances, public health impact, physiological and psychological dependence, and whether the chemical has been previously scheduled, in which case the new medicine is placed in the same schedule with very few exceptions (Calderon et al., 2017; Drug Enforcement Administration, 2017; U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017a).

During the time the CSA was being developed, several states had banned the possession and use of substances then increasingly referred to as psychedelics and there was concern by many political leaders about the effects and use of these substances. Thus, despite questions about their actual risks of abuse, physical and psychological dependence, they were placed in Schedule I. Final drug scheduling decisions for substances evaluated since the original scheduling that was included in the 1970 CSA are completed by the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA), with input from the Department of Health and Human Service's FDA and National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). This dual agency approach was a compromise by those in President Nixon's administration, some of whom argued that scheduling should be a legal matter and some who argued that it should be primarily guided by a scientific medical perspective. Changing the schedule of a substance or product and removal from the CSA altogether involves a complicated process by the DEA, FDA and NIDA (Drug Enforcement Administration, 2017; National Academies of Sciences, 2017; Spillane and McAllister, 2003; U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017a).

action as well as to address challenging mental health related disorders that are refractory to current evidence based treatments in the US and globally (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2017; World Health Organization, 2013).

Remarkably, in the context of 20th century history, one particular Schedule I substance, 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA), also known as "ecstasy", was granted a Breakthrough Therapy Designation as an MDMA-assisted psychotherapy Investigational New Drug Application (IND) for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), with FDA agreeing to a special protocol assessment that could expedite phase 3 clinical efficacy trials (Dean, 2017; Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2017a). Following completion of those clinical trials, the data must be submitted to the FDA as part of an in-depth scientific regulatory review process. If the FDA, upon review of the compiled clinical data, concludes there continues to be an acceptable margin of safety for patients as well as MDMA being validated to be statistically efficacious, there is the potential MDMA may be submitted for regulatory approval as a NDA in the treatment of PTSD (Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2017a) (Table 6).

It is impossible to predict what advances in the understanding of brain function, brain diseases, and medicine based treatments would currently be available had psychedelic research continued unhindered and expanded during the past half-century instead of being abruptly deterred nationally and globally during the 1970s. Dwelling on opportunity lost is not the purpose of this article for this special issue of Neuropharmacology, however, a review of the current state of mental illness in the United States illustrates why it is imperative to accelerate psychedelic drug research to determine its potential as new treatment options for people whose mental health disorders are refractory to current evidence based treatment modalities.

2. Public health need

The public health need for new medicinal treatments to support those who find available medicines ineffective or unacceptable due to side-effects, compliance, and cost demands are vast (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2017; World Health Organization, 2013). Unfortunately, the pipeline for new medications is relatively small given the scope of mental health problems

and the fact many major pharmaceutical companies that formerly pursued aggressive and very expensive research in this field have withdrawn, or at least significantly scaled back their efforts because of the high rate of failure to find medications that are acceptable for approval, given the often small and uncertain magnitude of benefit, along with discouraging side-effect profiles (Wegener and Rujescu, 2013). Large risk-averse companies may be waiting for smaller firms and consortiums to advance the development of psychedelics before attempting to purchase the rights, partner, or develop competing products. Present development of psilocybin for severe depression and anxiety related disorders and MDMA for PTSD are currently being shepherded by small organizations that may not have the full funding to develop the medicines through the expensive labyrinth of safety studies and large-scale phase 3 clinical efficacy trials (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016; Emerson et al., 2016).

The research emerging from these programs may be as important from the perspective of what is being learned about the brain and its disorders as it is to potentially offering true breakthroughs in psychotherapeutics. For example, whereas anxiolytics and antidepressants are typically taken every day, and often for years to manage symptoms, in the case of psilocybin, a single medication assisted psychotherapeutic session has been demonstrated to reduce severe symptoms of ostensibly intractable anxiety and depression for more than one year (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016). Similarly, one or two MDMA-assisted psychotherapeutic sessions appear to produce strong and persisting symptom reduction and quality of life enhancement in persons who had been diagnosed with PTSD (Mithoefer et al., 2011). Such lasting benefits aided by one to two doses of a medication, particularly in severely ill and debilitated patients, may emerge as one of the most momentous breakthroughs in psychiatry and medication development in decades. What is learned in these endeavors may lead to the knowledge that makes possible the necessary advancement in adjacent areas of development (Pollan, 2015; Slater, 2012).

There are many barriers to the development of psychedelic and other nontraditional therapies that include their histories of abuse and societal concerns and, in some cases, challenges for patent protection which may deter large investors. Fortunately, the FDA has mechanisms that can enable seriously ill individuals who are refractory to all recognized medically acceptable clinical therapies to be treated with medications that have not yet been approved. These

Table 4

The following are the drug control schedules of the US CSA, along with examples of substance placement ("scheduling" or "listing").

Internationally, signatories to the international drug control convention have their own controlled substance scheduling frameworks which are generally harmonized with one another, however, the scheduling scheme through the CSA provides an exemplary model (Spillane and McAllister, 2003).

Schedule I (C-I): Substances that do not have an accepted medical use and have a high abuse potential and/or were designated for C-I in the 1970 CSA, e.g., heroin, GHB, "bath salts", LSD, DMT, psilocybin, mescaline, cannabis. Note, "high abuse potential" is not defined and in practice means sufficient abuse potential to warrant scheduling thus C-I listed substances vary widely in their actual abuse potential. Nonetheless, penalties for possession, manufacture and use can be significant. Special DEA licenses and other requirements are required for research and have proven sufficiently arduous that research on these substances has been extremely limited (Nutt, 2015; Nutt et al., 2013; Scientific American, 2014).

Schedules II-V: Substances (drugs) that have an accepted medical use (typically approved for medical use by the FDA). C-II is for substances with the highest abuse and physical dependence potential and overall risk characterization; C-V is for substances with the lowest abuse potential and lowest dependence potential and risk (Scientific American, 2014).

- C-II includes oxycodone, hydrocodone, phencyclidine, morphine, amphetamine, pentobarbital, methadone.
- C-III includes buprenorphine, secobarbital, dronabinol, chlorphentermine.
- C-IV includes tramadol, diazepam, phenobarbital, mazindol, pentazocine, sibutramine, butorphanol.
- C-V includes low dose codeine, lacosamide, pregabalin.

Table 5

Schedule I placement of psychedelic substances in the US CSA clash with historical cultural and religious practices.

Using archeological and historical records as a reflective guide confirms the ordinary custom of incorporating psychedelics as part of ceremonial religious healing practices which date back centuries to thousands of years. North American Indians have been integrating the use of psychedelics such as peyote, which contains the psychedelic substance mescaline, for hundreds of years in their ceremonial religious traditions for healing (Traditional Indian religious use of peyote,1996; Halpern et al., 2005; Parker, 2013; Swan, 2009). Also incorporated in ceremonial traditions has been the use of psilocybin containing mushrooms (Metzner, 1998). South American shamans and other cultures have combined a number of indigenous plants to create a ceremonial drink, more commonly known as "ayahuasca." Ayahuasca contains a combination of DMT, a naturally occurring alkaloid found in most living species, and a Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitor (MAOI) which inhibits an enzyme (MAO) found in the human body, thus preventing DMT from metabolism (Riba et al., 2003). DMT retains its active oral form through the inhibition of MAO, thus giving rise to a psychedelic experience which is considered essential to those shamanic based healing ceremonies (McKenna et al., 1998; Riba et al., 2003; Tupper, 2008).

As recently as 2006, the US Supreme Court case *Alberto R. Gonzales*, *Attorney General*, et al., *Petitioners v. O Centro Espirita Beneficente Uniao do* Vegetal et al (2006), concluded in an 8-0 ruling that the religious organization O Centro Espirita Beneficente Uniao do Vegetal (UDV) who incorporate hoasca tea, also known as ayahuasca, into their ceremonial religious practice, were legally protected under the 1993 Religious Freedom Restoration Act established by Congress. The US Supreme Court's ruling in favor of UDV effectively prevented the application and enforcement of the CSA's Schedule I status when it came to the use of these substances in faith-based organizations' religious healing ceremonies (Küfner et al., 2007). Thus, there appears to be a variance where modern legal precedent establishes a Constitutional protected use of these substances as part of faith-based organizations' religious healing ceremonies. Simultaneously, the nation's medical community, who seeks to conduct scientific clinical research for potential therapeutic treatment indications for mental and behavioral health disorders, continues to be impeded.

This incongruity of US laws suggests the need for constructive policy deliberations to reconcile this difference. A political discourse at the national level may ultimately be required to resolve what some may argue as an unfortunate bias where faith-based religious organizations and the medical community are both equally seeking, albeit through different settings, the healing potential behind these substances. A logical outcome would include an equal defense of the medical community's legitimate interest in seeking the truth through science by pursuing research that can validate potential therapeutic application of these substances. The nature of this nation's mental health crisis is such that subscribing to the status quo out of legacy fear is self-evidently unacceptable. Fear impedes the necessary innovative, methodical, and scientifically based clinical research trials that would answer the battery of multi-decade old questions surrounding the potential clinical uses for such substances in psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy, and in turn may equally validate their historical use in faith-based religious healing ceremonies.

are called Expanded Access programs or otherwise known as "compassionate use programs" that can provide access to experimental drugs under the umbrella of an IND for patients who may not qualify for participation in a clinical trial but who give consent to accepting the risks for the opportunity to receive the drug. In being accepted as part of an IND, patients are informed of the uncertainties and risks of such drugs and treatment modalities (Calderon et al., 2017; U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2016a, 2017b). These programs are crucial because there are numerous individuals whose mental health disorders do not adequately respond to currently approved FDA medicines for the indications in which they were studied. Expanded access programs serve the humanitarian purpose of providing patients with no other acceptable recourse to willfully try a treatment with uncertain risks and benefits, as well as to enable the collection of clinical data through their participation that may help learn more about the potential effects, benefits and risks of the drug. Such programs and efforts might be increasingly utilized to apply and evaluate promising psychedelic substances being evaluated as potential new medicines.

3. Summary of major mental health challenges facing the United States

The United States confronts today a mental health crisis that by

many measures is not contracting; instead, it is expanding (Case and Deaton, 2015; Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Ouality, 2016; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014; Higgins, 2017; Kochanek et al., 2016; National Drug Intelligence Center, 2011; Rudd et al., 2016; Sacks et al., 2015; Stahre et al., 2014; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Surgeon General, 2016; Volkow, 2014). Furthermore, the overwhelming scope of this crisis is one where mental health disorders both grossly invade as well as subtly infiltrate the foundational fabric that comprises, sustains, and enterprises this nation, its citizenry. The multi decade long erosion in our nation's overall state of mental health (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Surgeon General, 2016) and our inability to sustainably alter the trajectory in treating mental health disorders such as treatment resistant depression, anxiety, addiction, and PTSD, has resulted in a steady-state depletion of our nation's internal intellectual, innovative, and economic capacity (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013; Florida Council for Community Mental Health, 2007; Insel, 2015; Kessler et al., 2008; Pal, 2015).

Continued decline in mental health poses an existential strategic threat within the United States whose impact is now being fully recognized (West, 2016). Our nation's economy hinges squarely on energetic pioneering competitive businesses whose foundation depends upon the people who sustain them. Mental

Table 6

Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies (MAPS) (Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2017b).

The Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies (MAPS) was founded in 1986 by Rick Doblin as a non-profit research and educational organization whose mission is to develop "medical, legal, and cultural contexts for people to benefit from the careful uses of psychedelics and marijuana." Specific efforts include:

- Researching psychedelics and marijuana for potential development into prescription medicines.
- Training therapists and working to establish a network of clinical treatment centers.
- Supporting scientific research into neuroscience, creativity, and spirituality.
- Educating the public at large about the potential risks and benefits from psychedelic and marijuana use.
- Ongoing research for the development of psychedelic substances for the treatment of mental health disorders include the following:
- o MDMA-assisted psychotherapy for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), autistic adults with social anxiety, and individuals with anxiety related to life-threatening illnesses.
- o Medicinal cannabis for a variety of disorders including symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) for veterans of war.
- o LSD-assisted psychotherapy for anxiety and other mental health disorders.
- o Ibogaine-assisted treatment for substance abuse disorders.

health disorders know no boundaries; they cross-cut all demographics; they spare no socioeconomic class; they permeate all cultures; and they inflict their debilitating effects on workers and by extension their families, from the service sector, to the manufacturing sector, to the professional sector. The people who suffer mental health disorders are the same persons who make-up the economic vitality of our business community and yet simultaneously are the consumers whom businesses depend upon to buy their products and services. Moreover, our nation's mental health crisis contributes directly to exacerbating disease state crises, where our nation's healthcare has become increasingly reactionary. Given the data demonstrating the extensive involvement of mental health disorders such as depression contributing to the etiology of numerous disease states such as asthma, arthritis, cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, and obesity, addressing mental health illnesses is proving essential in the course corrections necessary to positively affect treatment outcomes for such chronic diseases (Chapman et al., 2005).

The US Federal Government, along with partnering state governments, local municipalities, combined with the battery of public and private partners, have endeavored to stem this erosion of mental health through implementing numerous national policy and regulatory initiatives in addition to supporting mental health prevention and treatment programs over the years (Mental Health America, 2017; National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2017; National Institute of Mental Health (U.S.), 2017; The Pew Charitable Trusts and John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, 2015). Although these efforts continue to impact this crisis, the enormity is such that the trajectory remains disappointingly to many leaders who call for stronger actions (American Psychiatric Association, 2015). Table 7 provides examples of the diversity and magnitude of mental health related challenges in the United States. Although there are regional differences as well as globally, the situation in the United States is similar in many respects to that of other nations (World Health Organization, 2001, 2017).

To date, our mental health prevention and treatment programs, including regulatory and policy initiatives, collectively have not decreased the trajectory for a battery of mental health disorders being reported annually. On the contrary, they continue to increase over the time periods where data continues to be collected (Higgins, 2017). It can be argued everything possible that can be done is being done, and it can be equally argued that everything possible has not been done. Significant distress is continuously expressed from all stakeholders, including government executive civilian and military leadership, the broader medical community, and the full span of leadership across the business community, as to the long-term effects from an unhindered national mental health crisis. This is most recently evidenced by the establishment of the *President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis*. On October 26, 2017, following the recommendations from

the Commission's interim report (President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis, 2017), the President declared a Nationwide Public Health Emergency to combat the opioid crisis (The White HouseOffice of the Press Secretary, 2017). Earlier in the year on April 19, 2017, the DHHS announced their strategy for fighting the opioid crisis during the National Rx Drug Abuse and Heroin Summit (Price, 2017). These declarations follow the 2016 Surgeon General's Report on Alcohol, Drugs, and Health (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Surgeon General, 2016), and the bi-partisan legislation passed during the 114th United States Congress, known as the 21st Century Cures Act, which incorporated numerous significant national public health policy reform provisions (U.S. Congress, 2016).

3.1. Cumulative behavioral healthcare and societal costs

The NIMH estimates the total costs associated with serious mental illness, those disorders that are severely debilitating and affect about 6 percent of the adult population, to be in excess of \$300 billion per year (National Institute of Mental Health (U.S.), n.d.-a). Related to substance use disorders, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) documented that in 2013, 16.5 million Americans reported heavy drinking of alcohol: 55.8 million were current cigarette smokers; and 24.6 million were current illicit drug users. Abuse of tobacco, alcohol, and illicit drugs are estimated at approximately 740 billion US dollars in costs related to crime, lost work productivity and health care (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2017; West, 2016). The costs related to these disorders and pressure on local, state and federal budgets are staggering and continue to challenge existing health care approaches (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017; The Pew Charitable Trusts and John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, 2016).

3.2. Stigmatizing scientific medical problem solving

The challenges of preventing, diagnosing, and treating mental health disorders are increased by social issues and stigmatization that often hinders self-disclosure and help-seeking by those afflicted, including their families (Corrigan et al., 2014). Addressing stigma itself is not simple, particularly with respect to addictions where the goal is to facilitate admitting the problems, generating the readiness to seek assistance, and the determination to end them, but never normalizing substance use (Jones, 2007; Koop, 2007; Satel, 2007). This is not to imply that there are simple and effective treatments for all who seek them but addressing stigma for mental illness and addictions is vital. What is also needed is the acknowledgment, willingness, and resolve to expand scientific medical research in areas that display potential long-term material impact in diminishing mental health disorders.

Concerns about stigma may also include patient participation in

certain potential psychedelic drug treatment modalities, which are themselves characterized by decades of culturally established stigmas and histories, where those who might benefit would refuse their use in treatment because of those stigmas. As mentioned earlier and elsewhere in this special issue, psychedelic drugs including, N,N-Dimethyltryptamine (DMT) (Johnson et al., 2008), psilocybin (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016; Grob et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2008; Kumar, 2008; Sewell et al., 2006), 3.4.5-Trimethoxyphenethylamine (mescaline) (Johnson et al., 2008), and LSD (Gasser et al., 2014; Johnson et al., 2008; Sewell et al., 2006), continue to elicit significant attention within national and international research communities, for their potential treatment in PTSD, addiction, depression, and anxiety, when used concomitantly in clinically supervised psychotherapy sessions. Although not known as a classical hallucinogenic agent, MDMA (Chabrol, 2013; Grob, 2013; Johnson et al., 2008; Mithoefer, 2011; Oehen et al., 2013), has amassed equal attention for potentially treating some of the same disorders. Media coverage of such research has included well investigated stories that provide compelling accounts of the research and potential benefits, but also eye-catching headlines, and street and club terms, such as "magic mushrooms", "ecstasy", and "getting high", (Hoffman, 2016; Philipps, 2016; Pollan, 2015; Slater, 2012). Whether such media coverage increases or decreases overall stigmatization will remain to be seen but future reporting on scientifically accurate content would constructively contribute to balanced perceptions, discussions, and conclusions.

4. Evolving to address a critical national healthcare need

We are nearly two generations removed from when the CSA and the International Convention on Psychotropic Substances were ratified resulting in formidable barriers to research. Nonetheless, the past two decades have been accompanied by slowly increasing research and the emergence of studies that suggest significant potential for the treatment of a variety of mental disorders using psychedelic containing drugs (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016; Chabrol, 2013; Gasser et al., 2014; Grob et al., 2011; Krebs and Johansen, 2012; Mithoefer et al., 2011; Oehen et al., 2013; Pisano et al., 2017; Sewell et al., 2006). Most of the studies have been relatively small and would be considered phase 1 and phase 2 clinical studies by the FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017d). Thus, substantial, costly additional phase 3 clinical efficacy studies will be required over the course of at least several more years from the time those studies are implemented to support any NDA for approved medicinal use. The FDA regulatory review and approval process will undoubtedly be far more complex than for most medications and will likely involve external advisory committee hearings to advise on approvability, which schedules (e.g., II, III, IV or V) of the CSA the drugs should be placed in, and the evaluation of recommendations for Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies (REMS) (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2015, 2016b). The probable post-marketing requirements and restrictions will likely be extensive. However, if the requirements contribute to enabling a path to market for therapeutic applications, with manageable burdens to prescribers and the pharmacies that dispense directly to clinics conducting assisted psychotherapeutic sessions, they could both open the door to appropriate patient access while also requiring the collection of vital additional clinical data that may better guide any potential expansion of use. With increasing clinical knowledge over time that would come with the use of these substances in assisted psychotherapy sessions, emerging information that was previously unknown may result in potential changes in medication labeling which may further contribute to the recognition of public health benefits while simultaneously minimizing potential risks to patients (Brooks, 2014; Dasgupta and Schnoll, 2009; Frame et al., 2013; Johanson et al., 2009; Worthy, 2016).

Research is essential to provide the solid science foundation to identify and address the risks, benefits, and conditions that promote the safe use of psychedelic substances. The scope of the public health needs and challenges in determining if psychedelics drugs will be approved for medicinal use are equally enormous. The research community more than ever seeks to investigate these substances which include how they should be integrated with behavioral and other evidenced based therapies to provide safe and effective interventions for PTSD, addiction, depression, and/or anxiety and possibly other mental health disorders. It will only be through rigorous, methodical and sustainable clinical trials where researchers will be able to legitimately address these critical efficacy questions. Given that our overall current evidence based clinical treatment modalities are not adequately stemming this nation's mental health problems, all options should be actively considered. At the very least, this entire field of research warrants a vigorous scientific, clinical, and policy deliberation from current national and international subject matter experts specializing in

When currently accepted mental health treatment modalities have been demonstratively exhausted such as in this crisis, it's paramount that government, nonprofit, and commercial organizations collectively evolve a willingness to lead in brainstorming innovative paradigm shifting treatment endeavors. This willingness to branch into untapped research areas is critical, even if the proposed treatment endeavors appear to run counter to firmly established cultural norms or cherished ideologies. Today, there exists a historical record with examples of impeding out-of-the-box problem solving in areas of science, medicine, and philosophy. Moreover, it is legacy fear that often thwarts many attempts to counter sufficiently time-honored belief systems, and there is modern precedent sticking with the status quo. When there is a choice

Table 7Examples of major 21st mental health challenges in the United States that potentially may be addressed in part by innovative clinical therapies including medications derived from or analogs to certain psychedelic substances (see elsewhere in this special issue).

Major Depressive Episodes	In 2014, an estimated 15.7 million adults aged 18 or older in the United States had at least one major depressive episode in the past year (National Institute of Mental Health (U.S.), n.db).
Anxiety Disorders	Anxiety disorders are the most common mental illness in the U.S., affecting 40 million adults in the United States age 18 and older, or 18% of the population (Anxiety and Depression Association of America, 2014).
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder	About 6 of every 10 (or 60%) of men and 5 of every 10 (or 50%) of women experience at least one trauma in their lives. About 7 out of every 100 people (or 7% of the population) will have PTSD at some point in their lives. About 8 million adults have PTSD during a given year (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2015).
Drug Overdose Deaths	More persons died from drug overdoses in the United States in 2014 than during any previous year on record. From 2000 to 2014 nearly half a million persons in the United States have died from drug overdoses. In 2014, there were approximately one and a half times more drug overdose deaths in the United States than deaths from motor vehicle crashes (Rudd et al., 2016). By 2017 it was estimated that drug over dose deaths were 142 per day (Hedegaard et al., 2017; National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2017; President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis, 2017).
Suicides	There were 41.149 suicides in 2013 in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015).

between science and fear, fear often wins.

A telling illustration may be the effort during the 1980s and early 90s, when physician Barry Marshall and pathologist, Robin Warren experienced medical establishment intimidation as they endeavored and persevered to clinically validate *Helicobacter pylori's* role in causing more than 90% of duodenal ulcers and up to 80% of gastric ulcers which were up until that time routinely classified as psychosomatic (Nobel Media AB 2014, 2005; Watts, 2005; Weintraub, 2010). Only after a 15 plus year grueling clinical research odyssey did they finally succeed (Weintraub, 2010).

Years earlier at the closing of the 60s, a parallel and significantly larger state of affair was unfolding on the national stage. Psychedelics, understandably, were rapidly coming under the microscope for their recreational misuse, which culminated in the earlier discussed placement of these substances in Schedule I of the emerging CSA in 1970. This in turn contributed to this rapidly evolving field of research being stalled in situ, well before large scale phase 3 clinical trials could be initiated, completed, data compiled and analyzed, and results peer-reviewed to deduce these substances therapeutic efficacy for the behavioral disorders in which they were being studied.

With psychedelics, along with a number of other psychoactive substances, having been organized under Schedule I of the CSA over the past approximately one-half century, with the stated premise "drugs with no currently accepted medical use" (Drug Enforcement Administration, 2017), one might argue that an unintentional scientific medical bias evolved. This may have indirectly contributed to a multi-decade long deterring of clinical research, such that only a handful of small scale clinical studies having been finalized to date. With stalled research in psychedelics over this extensive time period, the stated premise "drugs with no currently accepted medical use" may have subtly and unintentionally institutionalized itself into a scientific medical norm.

5. Operationalizing forward

Addressing the mental and behavioral health challenges in the US and globally will not be accomplished simply by new medicines. Medicines may not be the most appropriate, effective or acceptable therapies for many people. Furthermore, medicines that are not accessible or used properly in the context of supportive behavioral interventions may do little to address mental health challenges. Among medicines, psychedelic type substances may potentially prove to be most appropriate, suitable, and with an acceptable benefit to risk ratio for certain (yet to be defined) populations of people with mental illness. Going forward, the US and other nations, along with partnering research institutions and funders, need to collectively collaborate together to expand all aspects of research in this endeavor.

5.1. Research in new and emerging areas can be appropriately guided with the convening of a research summit

Given the state of this nation's mental health crisis, the Federal Government is uniquely positioned to lead a multi-day international summit on the state of the science surrounding the field of psychedelic research as part of overall psychotherapeutic treatments for mental health disorders. Convening a summit demonstrates the Federal Government's willingness to engage in paradigm shifting endeavors through the creation of a framework that can begin developing the necessary policy, regulatory, and clinical capacity prerequisites to effectually advance this research. Through this summit, leading national and international subject matter experts would be solicited to present on the full range of issues, to include but not limited to: the potential uses of these

substances; their physical, psychological, and sensory effects including adverse effects and overdose; their physical and chemical properties and pharmacology; their traditional and modern cultural uses; the current state of scientific medical research (e.g. treatment resistant depression, anxiety, addiction, and PTSD); and national and international policy implications. Conducting a summit with this level of detail provides Federal Government executive level decision makers the critical information necessary to: identify phase 3 clinical research trials (e.g., type and extent of clinical trials needed to determine therapeutic efficacy for the psychedelic substances in the disorders studied); the capital resources and time required to complete these clinical trials; addressing ethical issues surrounding the use of these agents; and collectively deciding how best to update current policies and regulations to advance this research, "with the goal of ensuring that the nation's drug policies are informed by science." (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2016).

5.2. Funding research

There should be no illusion to the challenges that lay ahead in conducting this research and by no means is this process a sprint, but instead be regarded as nothing short of a marathon. It will take committed, combined, and collegial leadership from all affected Departments and agencies actively engaged to see this endeavor through. Currently identified psychedelic agents such as DMT, psilocybin, and mescaline are naturally occurring, and agents such as LSD and MDMA have existed for decades beyond their patent expirations. Given the enormity and immediacy of the mental health crisis, the lack of financial incentives for the private sector to engage in this research, and the sheer magnitude of research needed to determine the therapeutic efficacy of these agents; it's in the Federal Government's strategic interest to fund this field of research.

6. Summary

We are facing in the US and globally a multigenerational crisis of epidemic proportions due to mental health related disorders with loss of life, profound reduction in quality of life, with increasing recognition that more needs to be done (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017; Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2017; The Pew Charitable Trusts and John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, 2015, 2016). Mental health disorders, including treatment resistant depression, anxiety, addiction, and PTSD, have and will continue their combined overt and covert steady-state weakening of the private and public sectors which in turn will continue to undermine our overall economic structure (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2017; West, 2016). It is the responsibility of the Federal Government to undertake those challenges that simply are too great for the private sector to tackle itself. Nonetheless, the private sector has both a potential role and opportunity, and balanced regulatory approaches can incentivize the commitment of the private sector in co-developing profoundly needed new medicinal treatments (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017c). Endeavoring to alter the trajectory of this mental health crisis through conducting research is one where the combined collaborative efforts of the Federal Government, public, and private entities will be required, with Federal Government leadership, intervention, and partnership being essential. An illustration of this is the FDA's efforts to listen to and then work to incentivize the pharmaceutical industry to develop abuse deterrent opioids to find safer ways to alleviate pain and suffering, efforts that resulted in the development and approval of more than ten such advances in pain medicines in the last few years (Schnoll and Henningfield, 2016; U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017c;

Table 8

USPHS Commissioned Corps Officer, CAPT Sean J. Belouin, reflective tenets for an enduring, science-centered, research-guided mental health policy.

"We must seek the truth, through science, by pursuing research."

"We must have the acknowledgment, willingness, and resolve, to engage in clinically validating potential paradigm shifting treatment endeavors, even when at times they may run counter to cultural norms, cherished ideologies, and time-honored belief systems."

"As a nation, if we can overcome fear and lead the world by putting humanity on the moon, we must overcome 50 years of legacy fear and lead in this research."

Volkow and Collins, 2017).

This commentary has focused on the scientific foundation for understanding the nature, etiology and prevalence of various mental and behavioral disorders and the clinical advances in potential treatments. However, as evident from the provisions of the CSA, science is not the only consideration in health policy. As discussed in this commentary and elsewhere in this special issue of Neuropharmacology, the CSA was developed during a time of fear, political concern, and misinformation about psychedelic substances that led to establishing substantial barriers impeding their research and potential clinical uses. Conversely, personal and social factors, along with new emerging clinical scientific information, are relevant to the resurgence of interest in research and potential application of certain psychedelic substances. Given the extent and prevalence of brain-related disorders, it seems likely that few scientists in the field have not themselves been influenced in their research interests and policy opinions based on their own professional and personal experiences involving family, close colleagues, and friends who have suffered from numerous mental health disorders. Such experiences galvanize a deep personal commitment to serve humanity through pursuing scientific research and clinical treatment development, and this is the case with the authors of this commentary. From these perspectives, we close this commentary with reference to Table 8, which summarizes three reflections of author CAPT Belouin.

Disclaimer

The views, opinions, and content of this publication are those of authors CAPT Sean J. Belouin, and Jack E. Henningfield, and do not necessarily reflect the views, opinions, or policies of the US Public Health Service, the US Department of Health and Human Services, and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.

Conflicts of interest

Through, Pinney Associates, JEH has consulted and/or are presently on the evaluation and regulation of pharmaceutical products including opioid and nonopioid analgesics, psilocybin, and other CNS acting products.

Acknowledgments of funding and grants

The time and effort of the authors on this article was not supported by grants or any commercial interests. The authors are grateful for the care and efforts of Evan Schnoll, Dan Wang and Yolanda Green in the referencing and editing of the manuscript. CAPT Belouin would like to acknowledge Anthony DeCicco, CAPT, USPHS (Retired), Ron Flegel, Coleen Sanderson, and Natalie Lembeck for their reflective insights regarding this article for the Special Issue, Journal of Neuropharmacology.

References

Abrahart, D., 1998. A Critical Review of Theories and Research Concerning Lysergic

Acid Diethylamide (LSD) and Mental Health. Mental Health Studies. University of Portsmouth. http://www.maps.org/images/pdf/1998_abrahart_7620_1. pdf (Accessed 20 February 2018).

Abramson, H.A., Jarvik, M.E., Kaufman, M.R., Kornetsky, C., Levine, A., Wagner, M., 1955. Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD-25): I. Physiological and perceptual responses. J. Psychol. 39, 3-60.

Alberto, R. Gonzales, et al., 2006. v. O Centro Espírita Beneficente União do Vegetal, et al. Roberts Court. http://caselaw.findlaw.com/us-supreme-court/546/418.html (Accessed 20 February 2018).

American Psychiatric Association, 2015. Over 20 Mental Health Organizations Call on House Leadership for Comprehensive Mental Health Reform. https://www.psychiatry.org/newsroom/news-releases/mh-organizations-call-forcomprehensive-mental-health-reform (Accessed 08 January 2017).

Anxiety and Depression Association of America, 2014. Facts & Statistics [Fact Sheet]. http://www.adaa.org/about-adaa/press-room/facts-statistics (Accessed 21 February 2018).

Ban, T.A., 2006. The role of serendipity in drug discovery. Dialogues Clin. Neurosci. 8, 335–344.

Ban, T.A., 2007. Fifty years chlorpromazine: a historical perspective. Neuropsychiatric Dis. Treat. 3, 495–500.

Bastiaans, J., 1983. Mental liberation facilitated by the use of hallucinogenic drugs. In: Grinspoon, L., Bakalar, J.B. (Eds.), Psychedelic Reflections. Human Sciences, New York, pp. 143–152.

Brooks, M.J., 2014. Mitigating the safety risks of drugs with a focus on opioids: are risk evaluation and mitigation strategies the answer? Mayo Clin. Proc. 89, 1673–1684

Bonson, K., 2017. Regulation of human research with LSD in the United States (1949-1987). Psychopharmacology 235, 591–604.

Calderon, S.N., Hunt, J., Klein, M., 2017. A regulatory perspective on the evaluation of hallucinogen drugs for human use. Neuropharmacology. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.11.028 (Accessed 20 February 2018).

Carhart-Harris, R.L., Bolstridge, M., Rucker, J., Day, C.M., Erritzoe, D., Kaelen, M., Bloomfield, M., Rickard, J.A., Forbes, B., Feilding, A., Taylor, D., Pilling, S., Curran, V.H., Nutt, D.J., 2016. Psilocybin with psychological support for treatment-resistant depression: an open-label feasibility study. Lancet Psychiatry 3, 619–627.

Case, A., Deaton, A., 2015. Rising morbidity and mortality in midlife among white non-Hispanic Americans in the 21st century. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 112, 15078–15083

Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, 2016. Results from the 2015 national survey on drug use and health: detailed tables. In: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (Rockville, MD). https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013. Burden of Mental Illness. https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth/basics/burden.htm (Accessed 27 September 2017).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014. National diabetes Statistics report: estimates of diabetes and its burden in the United States, 2014. In: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (Atlanta, GA). https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/23442/cdc_23442_DS1.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015. Suicide - Facts at a Glance. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/suicide-datasheet-a.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017. 500 Cities: Local Data for Better Health. https://www.cdc.gov/500cities/ (Accessed 03 August 2017).

Chabrol, H., 2013. MDMA assisted psychotherapy found to have a large effect for chronic post-traumatic stress disorder. J. Psychopharmacol. 27, 865–866.

Chapman, D.P., Perry, G.S., Strine, T.W., 2005. The vital link between chronic disease and depressive disorders. Prev. Chronic Dis. 2, A14.

Chhabra, R., Kremzner, M.E., Kiliany, B.J., 2005. FDA policy on unapproved drug products: past, present, and future. Ann. Pharmacother. 39 (7–8), 1260–1264. Jul-Aug.

Corrigan, P.W., Druss, B.G., Perlick, D.A., 2014. The impact of mental illness stigma on seeking and participating in mental health care. Psychol. Sci. Publ. Interest 15, 37–70.

Dasgupta, N., Schnoll, S.H., 2009. Signal detection in post-marketing surveillance for controlled substances. Drug Alcohol Depend. 105 (Suppl. 1), S33—S41.

Dean, J., 2017. How MDMA Went from Club Drug to 'Breakthrough Therapy' Better known as 'ecstasy,' it's emerging as one of the most promising treatments for PTSD. Wall St. J. Oct. 18 https://www.wsj.com/articles/how-mdma-went-fromclub-drug-to-breakthrough-therapy-1508332237 (Accessed 21 February 2018).

Doblin, R., 2001. Regulation of the Medical Use of Psychedelics and Marijuana. Harvard University, Kennedy School of Government.

- Drug Enforcement Administration, 1995. LSD in the United States . http://www.druglibrary.org/schaffer/dea/pubs/lsd/intro.htm (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Drug Enforcement Administration, 2017. Drug Scheduling. http://www.dea.gov/druginfo/ds.shtml (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Dyck, E., 2006. 'Hitting highs at rock bottom': LSD treatment for alcoholism, 1950–1970. Soc. Hist. Med. 19, 313–329.
- Emerson, A., Klosinski, B.Y., Feduccia, A., Jerome, I., Doblin, R., 2016. Treating PTSD with MDMA-assisted psychotherapy: product development status and proposed design for phase 3 clinical trials. Multidiscip. Assoc. Psychedelic Stud. 26, 26–29.
- Florida Council for Community Mental Health, 2007. The Economic Burden of Mental Illness: a Fact Sheet. http://www.fccmh.org/resources/docs/Economic BurdenofMentalIllness.pdf (Accessed 01 August 2017).
- Frame, J.N., Jacobson, J.O., Vogel, W.H., Griffith, N., Wariabharaj, D., Garg, R., Zon, R., Stephens, C.L., Bialecki, A.M., Bruinooge, S.S., Allen, S.L., 2013. Assessment of risk evaluation and mitigation strategies in oncology: summary of the oncology risk evaluation and mitigation strategies workshop. J. Oncol. Pract. 9, e24–39. Freedman, D.X., 1968. On the use and abuse of LSD. Arch. Gen. Psychiatr. 18,
- Freedman, D.X., 1968. On the use and abuse of LSD. Arch. Gen. Psychiatr. 18, 330–347.
- Freedman, D.X., 1986. Hallucinogenic drug research—if so, so what? Symposium summary and commentary. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 24, 407–415.
- Freedman, D.X., 1992. LSD and psychiatry: a personal trip. In: Kales, A., Pierce, C.M., Greenblatt, M. (Eds.), The Mosaic of Contemporary Psychiatry in Perspective. Springer-Verlag New York, New York, pp. 182—190.
- Gasser, P., Holstein, D., Michel, Y., Doblin, R., Yazar-Klosinski, B., Passie, T., Brenneisen, R., 2014. Safety and efficacy of lysergic acid diethylamide-assisted psychotherapy for anxiety associated with life-threatening diseases. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 202. 513–520.
- Griffiths, R.R., Johnson, M.W., Carducci, M.A., Umbricht, A., Richards, W.A., Richards, B.D., Cosimano, M.P., Klinedinst, M.A., 2016. Psilocybin produces substantial and sustained decreases in depression and anxiety in patients with life-threatening cancer: a randomized double-blind trial. J. Psychopharmacol. 30, 1181—1197.
- Grinspoon, L., Bakalar, J.B., 1979. Psychedelic Drugs Reconsidered, xiv. Basic Books, New York, p. 343.
- Grob, C.S., 2013. A Placebo-controlled, Randomized, Blinded, Dose Finding Phase 2 Pilot Safety Study of MDMA-assisted Therapy for Social Anxiety in Autistic Adults. Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies (MAPS). http://www.maps.org/research-archive/mdma/MAA1_FINAL_Protocol_Version_2_ 21May13_web.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2017).
- Grob, C.S., Danforth, A.L., Chopra, G.S., Hagerty, M., McKay, C.R., Halberstadt, A.L., Greer, G.R., 2011. Pilot study of psilocybin treatment for anxiety in patients with advanced-stage cancer. Arch. Gen. Psychiatr. 68, 71–78.
- Halpern, J.H., Sherwood, A.R., Hudson, J.İ., Yurgelun-Todd, D., Pope Jr., H.G., 2005. Psychological and cognitive effects of long-term peyote use among Native Americans. Biol. Psychiatr. 58, 624–631.
- Hartogsohn, I., 2017. Constructing drug effects: a history of set and setting. Drug Sci. Policy Law 3, 1–17. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/ 2050324516683325 (Accessed 22 February 2018).
- Hedegaard, H., Warner, M., Minino, A.M., 2017. Drug Overdose Deaths in the United States, 1999-2015. National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, MD. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db273.htm (Accessed 22 February 2018).
- Higgins, E.S., 2017. Is Mental Health Declining in Th U.S.? Scientific American. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/is-mental-health-declining-in-the-u-s/ (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Hoffman, J., 2016. A Dose of a Hallucinogen from a 'Magic Mushroom,' and Then Lasting Peace. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2016/12/01/ health/hallucinogenic-mushrooms-psilocybin-cancer-anxiety-depression.html (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Hofmann, A., 1980. LSD, My Problem Child, vol. xiii. McGraw-Hill, New York, p. 209. Howell, L., 2017. President's Symposium: Enhancing Research on Controlled Substances. The College on Problems of Drug Dependence, Montreal, Canada. Hyman, S.E., 2012. Revolution stalled. Sci. Transl. Med. 4, 155.
- Ingraham, C., 2015. The Obama Administration Just Made Medical Marijuana Research Easier. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/ news/wonk/wp/2015/06/22/the-obama-administration-just-made-medicalmarijuana-research-easier/?utm_term=.e2fa77fb355e (Accessed 21 February 2019)
- Insel, T., 2015. Post by Former NIMH Director Thomas Insel: Mental Health Awareness Month: by the Numbers. National Institute of Mental Health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/about/directors/thomas-insel/blog/2015/mental-health-awareness-month-by-the-numbers.shtml (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- International Narcotics Control Board, 1994. Effectiveness of the International Drug Control Treaties: Supplement to the Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 1994. United Nations, Vienna.
- Johanson, C.E., Balster, R.L., Henningfield, J.E., Schuster, C.R., Anthony, J.C., Barthwell, A.G., Coleman, J.J., Dart, R.C., Gorodetzky, C.W., O'Keeffe, C., Sellers, E.M., Vocci, F., Walsh, S.L., 2009. Risk management and post-marketing surveillance for the abuse of medications acting on the central nervous system: expert panel report. Drug Alcohol Depend. 105 (Suppl. 1), S65—S71.
- Johnson, M., Richards, W., Griffiths, R., 2008. Human hallucinogen research: guidelines for safety. J. Psychopharmacol. 22, 603–620.
- Jones, H., 2007. Addiction and pregnancy. In: Henningfield, J.E., Santora, P.B., Bickel, W.K. (Eds.), Science and Policy for the Twenty-first Century. The Johns

- Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, pp. 87–94. Addiction Treatment.
- Kamienski, Ł., 2016. Shooting up: a Short History of Drugs and War, vol. xxix. Oxford University Press, New York, p. 381.
- Kessler, R.C., Heeringa, S., Lakoma, M.D., Petukhova, M., Rupp, A.E., Schoenbaum, M., Wang, P.S., Zaslavsky, A.M., 2008. Individual and societal effects of mental disorders on earnings in the United States: results from the national comorbidity survey replication. Am. J. Psychiatr. 165, 703–711.
- Kochanek, K.D., Arias, E., Bastian, B.A., 2016. The effect of changes in selected age-specific causes of death on non-hispanic white life expectancy between 2000 and 2014. NCHS Data Brief 1–8. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/303875810_The_Effect_of_Changes_in_Age-Specific_Causes_of_Death_on_Non-Hispanic_White_Life_Expectancy_Between_2000_and_2014 (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Koop, C.E., 2007. Drug addiction in America: challenges and opportunities. In: Henningfield, J.E., Santora, P.B., Bickel, W.K. (Eds.), Addiction Treatment: Science and Policy for the Twenty-first Century. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, pp. 1–23.
- Krebs, T.S., Johansen, P.O., 2012. Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) for alcoholism: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J. Psychopharmacol. 26, 994–1002.
- Küfner, S., Rabe, D., Sonczyk, B., 2007. The Santo Daime Church the Protection of Freedom of Religion under International Law. Amsterdam International Law Clinic. http://www.bialabate.net/wp-content/uploads/2008/08/Santo-Daime1.AILC. FINAL-REPORT.14.03.07.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Kumar, S., 2008. Psilocybin-assisted Psychotherapy in the Management of Anxiety Associated with Stage IV Melanoma. Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies (MAPS). http://www.maps.org/research-archive/cluster/psilo-lsd/ pca1protocol.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Langlitz, N., 2012. Neuropsychedelia: the Revival of Hallucinogen Research since the Decade of the Brain. University of California Press, Berkeley, p. 336.
- Lee, M.A., Shlain, B., 1992. Acid Dreams: The Complete Social History of LSD: the CIA, the Sixties, and beyond, vol. xxv. Grove Weidenfeld, New York, 345–312.
- Lopez-Munoz, F., Alamo, C., Garcia-Garcia, P., 2011. The discovery of chlordiazepoxide and the clinical introduction of benzodiazepines: half a century of anxiolytic drugs. J. Anxiety Disord. 25, 554–562.
- Mansnerus, L., 1996. Timothy Leary, Pied Piper of Psychedelic 60's, Dies at 75. The New York Times. http://www.nytimes.com/learning/general/onthisday/bday/1022.html (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- McKenna, D.J., Callaway, J.C., Grob, C.S., 1998. The Scientific Investigation of Ayahuasca: A Review of Past and Current Research. The Heffter Review of Pschedelic Research, pp. 65–76.
- Meadows, M., 2006. Promoting Safe and Effective Drugs for 100 Years, FDA Consumer Magazine. The Centennial Edition. https://www.fda.gov/downloads/AboutFDA/ WhatWeDo/History/FOrgsHistory/CDER/UCM586463.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Mental Health America, 2017. Programs. http://www.mentalhealthamerica.net/programs (Accessed 27 September 2017).
- Merlin, M.D., 2003. COVER ARTICLE: archaeological evidence for the tradition of psychoactive plant use in the old world. Econ. Bot. 57, 295—323.
- Metzner, R., 1998. Hallucinogenic drugs and plants in psychotherapy and shamanism. J. Psychoact. Drugs 30, 333–341.
- Mithoefer, M.C., 2011. An Open-label Proof-of-principle Study Testing the Use of an Additional MDMA-assisted Psychotherapy Session in People Who Relapsed after Participating in a Phase 2 Clinical Trial of MDMA-assisted Psychotherapy to Treat Chronic, Treatment-resistant Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies (MAPS). http://www.maps.org/research-archive/mdma/MP1-E2_Protocol_FINAL_29Apr11_web.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Mithoefer, M.C., Wagner, M.T., Mithoefer, A.T., Jerome, L., Doblin, R., 2011. The safety and efficacy of {+/-}3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine-assisted psychotherapy in subjects with chronic, treatment-resistant posttraumatic stress disorder: the first randomized controlled pilot study. J. Psychopharmacol. 25, 439–452.
- Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2007. The Medical History of Psychedelic Drugs. University of Cambridge. http://www.maps.org/images/pdf/history_of_psychedelics.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2017a. FDA Grants Breakthrough Therapy Designation for MDMA-assisted Psychotherapy for PTSD, Agrees on Special Protocol Assessment for Phase 3 Trials. https://www.maps. org/news/media/6786-press-release-fda-grants-breakthrough-therapy-designation-for-mdma-assisted-psychotherapy-for-ptsd,-agrees-on-special-protocol-assessment-for-phase-3-trials (Accessed 25 September 2017).
- Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2017b. Mission. http://www.maps.org/about/mission (Accessed 08 February 2017).
- Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies, 2017c. Research. http://www.maps.org/research (Accessed 08 March 2017).
- National Academies of Sciences, E., and Medicine, 2017. Pain Management and the Opioid Epidemic: Balancing Societal and Individual Benefits and Risks of Prescription Opioid Use. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC.
- National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2017. About NAMI. https://www.nami.org/About-NAMI (Accessed 27 September 2017).
- National Drug Intelligence Center, 2011. National Drug Threat Assessment. U.S. Department of Justice, Washington, D.C. https://www.justice.gov/archive/ndic/pubs44/44849/44849p.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2017. Overdose Death Rates. https://www.drugabuse. gov/related-topics/trends-statistics/overdose-death-rates (Accessed 08 March

- National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2017. Trends & Statistics. https://www.drugabuse. gov/related-topics/trends-statistics (Accessed 03 August 2017).
- National Institute on Drug Abuse, What kinds of marijuana research does NIDA fund?, 2016. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugs-abuse/marijuana/marijuana-cannabinoidresearch-nida, (Accessed; Accessed 21 February 2018).
- National Institute of Mental Health (U.S.), 2002. Annual Total Direct and Indirect Costs of Serious Mental Illness (2002). http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/ cost/index.shtml ([Fact Sheet], (Accessed 21 February 2018),
- National Institute of Mental Health (U.S.), Major depression among adults, 2017a. Outreach, http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/prevalence/major-depressionamong-adults.shtml ([Fact Sheet], (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- National Institute of Mental Health (U.S.), 2017b. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/outreach/ index.shtml (Accessed 27 September 2017).
- Navarro, R.P., 2009. Managed Care Pharmacy Practice. Jones & Bartlett Publishers, Sudbury, MA, 595.
- Nichols, D.E., 2004. Hallucinogens. Pharmacol. Ther. 101, 131–181.
- Nobel Media AB 2014, 2005. Press Release: the 2005 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine to Barry J. Marshall and J. Robin Warren. http://www.nobelprize.org/ nobel_prizes/medicine/laureates/2005/press.html (Accessed 22 February 2018).
- Nutt, D., 2015. Illegal drugs laws: clearing a 50-year-old obstacle to research. PLoS Biol 13 e1002047
- Nutt, D.J., King, L.A., Nichols, D.E., 2013. Effects of Schedule I drug laws on neuroscience research and treatment innovation. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 577-585.
- Oehen, P., Traber, R., Widmer, V., Schnyder, U., 2013. A randomized, controlled pilot study of MDMA (+/- 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine)-assisted psychotherapy for treatment of resistant, chronic post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). J. Psychopharmacol. 27, 40-52.
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2017. Healthy People 2020: Mental Health and Mental Disorders. https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics objectives/topic/mental-health-and-mental-disorders (Accessed 02 August 2017).
- Pal, S., 2015. The economic burden of mental health care. U.S. Pharm. 40, 20. Pangalos, M.N., Schechter, L.E., Hurko, O., 2007. Drug development for CNS disorders: strategies for balancing risk and reducing attrition. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.
- 6. 521-532. Pankevich, D.E., Altevogt, B.M., Dunlop, J., Gage, F.H., Hyman, S.E., 2014. Improving and accelerating drug development for nervous system disorders. Neuron 84,
- 546-553 Parker, L., 2013. Peyote in native american traditions. In: Coriell, B. (Ed.), Indigenous Religious Traditions. Colorado College. http://sites.coloradocollege.edu/ indigenoustraditions/6-%E2%80%A2-independent-projects/peyote-in-native-
- american-traditions/ (Accessed 27 September 2017). Philipps, D., 2016. FDA Agrees to New Trials for Ecstasy as Relief for PTSD Patients. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2016/11/29/us/ptsd-mdma-ecstasy.
- html. p. A11, (Accessed 21 February 2018). Pisano, V.D., Putnam, N.P., Kramer, H.M., Franciotti, K.J., Halpern, J.H., Holden, S.C., 2017. The Association of Psychedelic Use and Opioid Use Disorders Among Illicit
- Users in the United States. J. Psychopharmacol. 31, 606-613. Pollan, M., 2015. The Trip Treatment. The New Yorker. http://www.newyorker.com/ magazine/2015/02/09/trip-treatment (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis, 2017. Draft Interim Report. Office of National Drug Control Policy. https://www. whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/ondcp/commission-interim-report. pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Price, T.E., 2017. In: Secretary Price Announces HHS Strategy for Fighting Opioid Crisis. National Rx Drug Abuse and Heroin Summit, Atlanta, Georgia. https:// www.hhs.gov/about/leadership/secretary/speeches/2017-speeches/secretaryprice-announces-hhs-strategy-for-fighting-opioid-crisis/index.html (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Riba, J., Valle, M., Urbano, G., Yritia, M., Morte, A., Barbanoj, M.J., 2003. Human pharmacology of ayahuasca: subjective and cardiovascular effects, monoamine metabolite excretion, and pharmacokinetics. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therapeut. 306,
- Rudd, R.A., Aleshire, N., Zibbell, J.E., Gladden, R.M., 2016. Increases in drug and opioid overdose Deaths-United States, 2000-2014. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 64, 1378-1382.
- Sacks, J.J., Gonzales, K.R., Bouchery, E.E., Tomedi, L.E., Brewer, R.D., 2015. 2010 national and state costs of excessive alcohol consumption. Am. J. Prev. Med. 49,
- Satel, S., 2007. In praise of stigma. In: Henningfield, J.E., Santora, P.B., Bickel, W.K. (Eds.), Addiction Treatment: Science and Policy for the Twenty-first Century. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, pp. 147–152.
- Schnoll, S.H., Henningfield, J.E., 2016. FDA Incentivizing Pharma to Develop Less Abusable Pain Medicines (National Pain Report). http://nationalpainreport.com/ fda-incentivizing-pharma-to-develop-less-abusable-pain-medicines-8831082. html (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Scientific American Editors, 2014. End the Ban on Psychoactive Drug Research. Scientific American. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/end-the-banon-psychoactive-drug-research/ (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Sewell, R.A., Halpern, J.H., Pope Jr., H.G., 2006. Response of cluster headache to psilocybin and LSD. Neurology 66, 1920-1922.
- Siegel, S., 1989. Pharmacological conditioning and drug effects. In: Goudie, A.J., Emmett-Oglesby, M.W. (Eds.), Psychoactive Drugs: Tolerance and Sensitization. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp. 115–180. Siegel, R.K., West, L.J. (Eds.), 1975. Hallucinations: Behavior, Experience, and Theory.

- John Wiley & Sons Inc, New York, p. 322.
- Sinha, I., 2001. The history and development of the leading international drug control conventions: prepared for the senate special committee on illegal drugs. In: Division, L. a. G. (Ed.), Library of Parliament, Canada. https://sencanada.ca/ content/sen/committee/371/ille/library/history-e.htm (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Slater, L., 2012. How Psychedelic Drugs Can Help Patients Face Death. The New York Times Magazine. http://www.nytimes.com/2012/04/22/magazine/howpsychedelic-drugs-can-help-patients-face-death.html. p. MM56, (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Spillane, I.F., 2004. Debating the controlled substances Act. Drug Alcohol Depend. 76, 17-29.
- Spillane, J., McAllister, W.B., 2003. Keeping the lid on: a century of drug regulation and control. Drug Alcohol Depend. 70, S5-S12.
- Stahre, M., Roeber, J., Kanny, D., Brewer, R.D., Zhang, X., 2014. Contribution of excessive alcohol consumption to deaths and years of potential life lost in the United States Prey Chronic Dis 11 E109
- Stolerman, I.P., 2010. Encyclopedia of Psychopharmacology. Springer, Berlin, London n 1392
- Strassman, R.J., 1995. Hallucinogenic drugs in psychiatric research and treatment. Perspectives and prospects. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 183, 127-138.
- Swan, D.C., 2009. Native American Church. The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture. Oklahoma Historical Society. http://www.okhistory.org/publications/ enc/entry.php?entry=NA015 (Accessed 09 September 2017).
- The Lancet, 2006. Reviving research into psychedelic drugs. Lancet 367, 1214. The Pew Charitable Trusts, John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, 2015. Mental Health and the Role of the States. http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/ assets/2015/06/mentalhealthandroleofstatesreport.pdf (Accessed 21 February
- The Pew Charitable Trusts, John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, 2016. State Health Care Spending. http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/2016/ 05/state-health-care-spending.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- The White House, 2017. President Donald J. Trump is Taking Action on Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis. Office of the Press Secretary. https://www. whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/president-donald-j-trump-taking-actiondrug-addiction-opioid-crisis/ (Accessed 22 February 2018).
- Traditional Indian religious use of peyote, 1996. The Public Health and Welfare, U.S.A. https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/42/1996a (Accessed 20 February 2018).
- Transnational Institute, 2006. International Drug Control: 100 Years of Success?, Drug Policy Briefing. Transnational Institute. https://www.tni.org/en/publication/ international-drug-control-100-years-of-success (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Tupper, K.W., 2008. The globalization of ayahuasca: harm reduction or benefit maximization? Int. J. Drug Pol. 19, 297-303.
- United Nations, 1971. Convention on Psychotropic Substances. https://www.unodc. org/pdf/convention_1971_en.pdf (Accessed; 08-01-2017).
- University of Maryland Center for Substance Abuse Research, LSD, 2013a. http:// cesar.umd.edu/cesar/drugs/lsd.asp (Accessed 01 August 2017).
- University of Maryland Center for Substance Abuse Research, Psilocybin/Psilocyn, 2013b. Psilocybin/psilocyn. http://cesar.umd.edu/cesar/drugs/psilocybin.asp (Accessed 01 August 2017).
- U.S. Congress, 2016. 21st Century Cures Act. https://www.congress.gov/bill/114thcongress/house-bill/34/ (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2015. Announcement of Revision to the Department of Health and Human Services Guidance on Procedures for the Provision of Marijuana for Medical Research . In: https://www.federalregister. gov/documents/2015/06/23/2015-15479/announcement-of-revision-to-the department-of-health-and-human-services-guidance-on-procedures-for. Federal Register, June 23, 2015, (Accessed; 22 February 2018).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Surgeon General, 2016. Facing addiction in America: the Surgeon General's report on alcohol, drugs, and health. In: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https:// addiction.surgeongeneral.gov/surgeon-generals-report.pdf (Washington, D.C), (Accessed; 02-21-2018).
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2015. How Common Is PTSD? http://www.ptsd. va.gov/public/PTSD-overview/basics/how-common-is-ptsd.asp [Fact Sheet], (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2015. Risk evaluation and mitigation strategies: modifications and revisions: guidance for industry. In: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, F. a. D. A. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, Silver Spring, MD. https://www. fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/ Guidances/UCM441226.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2016a. Expanded access to investigational drugs for treatment use - questions and answers: guidance for industry. In: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, F. a. D. A. Center for Drug Evaluation, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, Washington, D.C. https://www.fda.gov/ downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm351261.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2016b. FDA's application of statuatory factors in determining when a REMS is necessary: guidance for industry: draft guidance. In: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, F. a. D. A. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, Silver Spring, MD. https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatory Information/Guidances/UCM521504.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017a. Assessment of abuse potential of drugs: guidance for industry. In: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, F. a. D.

- A. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Silver Spring, MD. https://www.fda. gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm198650.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017b. Expanded Access (Compassionate Use). https://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/PublicHealthFocus/ ExpandedAccessCompassionateUse/default.htm (Accessed 01 August 2017).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017c. Statement from FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb, M.D. - FDA Is Taking New Steps to Help Assess Opioid Drugs with Abuse-deterrent Properties. https://www.fda.gov/newsevents/newsroom/ pressannouncements/ucm562961.htm (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2017d. Step 3: Clinical Research. United Nations, 1971. Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971. https://www.fda. gov/forpatients/approvals/drugs/ucm405622.htm (Accessed 03 August 2017).
- Volkow, N., 2014. America's Addiction to Opioids: Heroin and Prescription Drug Abuse. https://www.drugabuse.gov/about-nida/legislative-activities/testimony-tocongress/2016/americas-addiction-to-opioids-heroin-prescription-drug-abuse (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Volkow, N.D., Collins, F.S., 2017. The role of science in addressing the opioid crisis. N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 391–394.
- Watts, G., 2005. Nobel prize is awarded to doctors who discovered H pylori. BMJ 331, 795.
- Wegener, G., Rujescu, D., 2013. The current development of CNS drug research. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol 16 1687-1693
- Weintraub, P., 2010. The Dr. Who Drank Infectious Broth, Gave Himself an Ulcer, and Solved a Medical Mystery. Discover. Kalmbach Publishing Co. http://

- discovermagazine.com/2010/mar/07-dr-drank-broth-gave-ulcer-solved-medical-mystery (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- West, M., 2016. Studying the Brain Mechanisms behind Drug Addiction and Overconsumption of Sweet, Fatty Food. Benefunder. http://benefunder.org/causes/ 609/mark-west (Accessed 01 August 2017).
- Woodworth, T.W., 2011. How will DEA affect your clinical study? J. Clin. Res. Best Pract. 7, 1–9.
- World Health Organization, 2001. The World Health Report Mental Health: New Understanding, New Hope. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. http://www.who.int/whr/2001/en/whr01_en.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- World Health Organization, 2013, Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ 10665/89966/1/9789241506021_eng.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- World Health Organization, 2017. Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/254610/1/WHO-MSD-MER-2017.2eng.pdf (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Worthy, S.L., 2016. Don't sell out safety: a call to preserve risk evaluation and mitigation strategies to reduce harm to patients and the public in the U.S. J. Pharm. Policy Pract. 9, 2. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/291389687_Don't_sell_ out_safety_A_call_to_preserve_risk_evaluation_and_mitigation_strategies_to_ reduce_harm_to_patients_and_the_public_in_the_US (Accessed 21 February 2018).